Aliens in caves: the global dimension of biological invasions in subterranean ecosystems

Giuseppe Nicolosi^{1†}, Stefano Mammola^{2,3†}, Laura Verbrugge⁴, and Marco Isaia^{1,*}

¹Department of Life Sciences and Systems Biology, University of Turin, Via Accademia Albertina 13, 10123, Torino, Italy

²Molecular Ecology Group (Dark-MEG), Water Research Institute (IRSA), National Research Council (CNR), Corso Tonolli, 50, Pallanza, 28922, Italy

³Laboratory for Integrative Biodiversity Research (LIBRe), Finnish Museum of Natural History (LUOMUS), University of Helsinki, Pohjoinen Rautatiekatu 13, Helsinki, 00100, Finland

⁴Water and Development Research Group, Department of Built Environment, Aalto University, Tietotie 1E, Espoo, 02150, Finland

ABSTRACT

Alien species are a significant threat to natural ecosystems and human economies. Despite global efforts to address this challenge, the documented number of alien species is rapidly increasing worldwide. However, the magnitude of the impact of alien species may vary significantly across habitats. For example, some habitats are naturally less prone to biological invasions due to stringent abiotic and biotic characteristics, selecting for a limited number of introduced species possessing traits closely related to the native organisms. Subterranean ecosystems are quintessential examples of habitats with strong environmental filters (e.g. lack of light and scarcity of food), driving convergent adaptations in species that have successfully adapted to life in darkness. Despite these stringent environmental constraints, the number of records of alien species in subterranean ecosystems has increased in recent decades, but the relevant literature remains largely fragmented and mostly anecdotal. Therefore, even though caves are generally considered very fragile ecosystems, their susceptibility to impacts by alien species remains untested other than for some very specific cases. We provide the first systematic literature survey to synthesise available knowledge on alien species in subterranean ecosystems globally. This review is supported by a database summarising the available literature, aiming to identify gaps in the distribution and spread of alien invertebrate species in subterranean habitats, and laying the foundations for future management practices and interventions. First, we quantitatively assessed the current knowledge of alien species in subterranean ecosystems to shed light on broader questions about taxonomic biases, geographical patterns, modes of dispersal, pathways for introductions and potential impacts. Secondly, we collected species-specific traits for each recorded alien species and tested whether subterranean habitats act as ecological filters for their establishment, favouring organisms with pre-adaptive traits suitable for subterranean life. We found information on the presence of 246 subterranean alien species belonging to 18 different classes. The dominant alien species were invertebrates, especially insects and arachnids. Most species were reported in terrestrial subterranean habitats from all continents except Antarctica. Palaearctic and Nearctic biogeographic regions represented the main source of alien species. The main routes of introductions into the recipient country are linked to commercial activities (84.3% of cases for which there was information available). Negative impacts have been documented for a small number of case studies (22.7%), mostly related to increased competition with native species. For a limited number of case studies (6.1%), management strategies were reported but the effectiveness of these interventions has rarely been quantified. Accordingly, information on costs is very limited. Approximately half of the species in our database can be considered established in subterranean habitats. According to our results, the presence of

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel.: +00390116704544; E-mail: marco.isaia@unito.it).

[†]Equal first authors.

Biological Reviews **98** (2023) 849–867 © 2023 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

suitable traits grants access to the stringent environmental filter posed by subterranean environments, facilitating establishment in the new habitat. We recommend that future studies deepen the understanding of invasiveness into subterranean habitats, raising public and scientific community awareness of preserving these fragile ecosystems.

Key words: subterranean biology, conservation biology, invasiveness, subterranean alien species, adaptive traits, allochthonous species.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	850
II.	Materials and methods	851
	(1) Scope of the analysis	.851
	(2) Standardised literature search	.851
	(3) Additional literature search	.852
	(4) Meta-data extraction	.852
	(5) Species-level traits	.854
	(6) Data analysis	.854
III.	Results and discussion	855
	(1) What are the most frequent alien taxa present in subterranean environments and habitats?	.856
	(2) What are the origins, recipient countries and pathways of alien species introductions in	
	subterranean ecosystems?	.856
	(3) What are the impacts of alien species in subterranean habitats?	.859
	(4) What are the socio-economic impacts of alien species in subterranean ecosystems?	.860
	(5) What are the management interventions used to protect subterranean habitats ²	.861
	(6) Are there common traits shared by alien species that successfully establish in subterranean ecosystems?	861
IV	Conclusions	862
V	Acknowledgements	863
VI.	Author contributions	863
VII	Data availability statement	863
VIII.	References	863
IX	Supporting information	867
171.	Supporting mormation	007

I. INTRODUCTION

In a globalised planet, there has been an increase in human-mediated relocations of species beyond their natural ranges (Meyerson & Mooney, 2007; Hulme *et al.*, 2008; Liebhold & Tobin, 2008). Alien species are defined as organisms introduced accidentally or deliberately into a habitat where they are not normally found, often representing a serious threat to biodiversity and the functioning of ecosystems (Pyšek *et al.*, 2020; Clavero & García-Berthou, 2005; Simberloff *et al.*, 2013). In recent years, the number of successful biological invasions has continued to rise, despite increasing global conservation efforts to address this challenge (Pagad *et al.*, 2015), often resulting in substantial impacts to ecosystems (Vilà *et al.*, 2010, 2011) and economies (the global cost of invasive alien species is estimated to be a minimum of \$26.8 billion annually; Diagne *et al.*, 2021).

With increasing study of the potential impacts of alien species across taxonomic groups and habitat types (e.g. Courchamp *et al.*, 2017; Cuthbert *et al.*, 2019; Haubrock *et al.*, 2019; Mofu *et al.*, 2019), there is a growing awareness that not all natural environments are equally likely to be invaded (Pyšek, Chytrý & Jarošík, 2009; Pyšek *et al.*, 2010). Due to their abiotic and biotic characteristics, some habitats may be less prone to biological invasions than others. As foreseen by Charles Darwin, preadaptation and competition are the two key opposing forces behind the success or failure of an invasion (Cadotte *et al.*, 2018). In other words, when a habitat exerts a strong environmental filter, colonisers showing traits that are closely related to local native organisms may be more successful than others. Conversely, when competition is the most important factor shaping a community, selection will act against trait similarity and colonisers with comparable traits are generally excluded – the so-called 'Darwin's naturalisation hypothesis'. As a consequence, an enhanced understanding of community assembly rules in a functional perspective is crucial to assessing invasion risks (Hamilton *et al.*, 2005; Statzner, Bonada & Dolédec, 2008; Cadotte *et al.*, 2018).

Caves and other subterranean systems are quintessential examples of habitats with strong environmental filters, selecting for convergent adaptations in species that have successfully adapted to life in darkness (Pipan & Culver, 2012; Trontelj, Blejec & Fišer, 2012). Eye reduction, depigmentation and enhanced development of tactile and olfactory organs are among the most conspicuous features possessed by subterranean species; these shared features have evolved in response to selective environmental pressures imposed by subterranean environments. As a result, one can predict that the conditions in deep subterranean habitats should act as effective ecological filters for the establishment of alien species, favouring only those organisms with suitable pre-adaptive traits (Reeves, 1999; Mammola, 2017). Alien species can successfully establish in surface/subterranean ecotones such as cave entrances and other shallow subterranean spaces due to their higher availability of resources and greater richness and diversity of native species (Lloyd *et al.*, 2000; Prous, Ferreira & Martins, 2004; Prous, Ferreira & Jacobi, 2015).

Despite an increased number of records of alien species in subterranean ecosystems during recent decades, relevant literature remains scarce and fragmented. Moreover, occurrences mostly refer to caves or to artificial hypogean habitats (i.e. bunkers and abandoned mines), with few studies on other kinds of – still largely unexplored – subterranean habitats (e.g. the *Milieu Souterrain Superficiel*; see Mammola *et al.*, 2016). For these reasons, the true extent of alien species invasions in the subterranean realm is largely unknown and in-depth studies are needed to clarify the importance of this threat in terms of biological conservation and how best to address any related environmental issues. Consequently, assessing the effects of alien species on subterranean ecosystems is perceived as an important and urgent question in cave-based science (Mammola *et al.*, 2020).

To facilitate this goal, we here provide a first synthesis of the available literature on alien species in subterranean ecosystems. We asked three general questions: (i) hat are the most frequent alien taxa present in subterranean habitats? (i) What are the origins, the recipient countries, and the pathways of alien species introductions in subterranean ecosystems? (iii) What are the environmental and socio-economic impacts of these species? We then extracted information on speciesspecific traits for each alien species documented in subterranean ecosystems across the sampled literature, aiming to answer a further question: (iv) do successful colonisers of subterranean environments display pre-adaptive traits? Specifically, we tested the relationship between the presence/absence of adaptive traits facilitating the colonisation of subterranean ecosystems and the probability of establishment in a subterranean environment. Considering that the strength of competition in caves is often lower than that of environmental filtering (Mammola, 2019), we predict that successful colonisers should possess traits that are similar to those of local native organisms (Cadotte et al., 2019).

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

(1) Scope of the analysis

We focused on terrestrial and freshwater subterranean habitats globally. Following the function-based classification of Earth's ecosystems (Keith *et al.*, 2022), the habitats we considered were 'Subterranean' (S) [including 'Subterranean lithic' (S1) and 'Anthropogenic subterranean voids' (S2) biomes] and

'Subterranean-freshwater' (SF) [including 'Subterranean freshwater' (SF1) and 'Anthropogenic subterranean freshwater' (SF2) biomes]. We excluded marine caves and anchialine systems, i.e. the 'Subterranean tidal' (SM1) biome *sensu* Keith *et al.* (2022). The diversity of alien species, pathways of introduction, and management in marine systems seems to be much lower than in terrestrial ecosystems [see Gerovasileiou *et al.* (2016, 2022) for extensive coverage of alien species in marine caves].

Furthermore, we did not consider studies focusing on alien photosynthetic organisms (lampenflora) in caves opened to tourism (i.e. illuminated by artificial lights; see e.g. Cigna, 2011; Falasco *et al.*, 2014; Mulec, 2019; Piano *et al.*, 2015; Piano, Nicolosi & Isaia, 2021). We excluded studies on lampenflora because the species pool of photosynthetic organisms colonising a cave usually originates from the surface habitat in the proximity of the cave rather than a different biogeographic region. In addition, this topic has been the subject of other reviews (Baquedano Estévez *et al.*, 2019; Falasco *et al.*, 2014; Piano *et al.*, 2022).

We considered alien subterranean species to be alien species moved by human activities beyond the limits of their natural geographic range into a new area (*sensu* Richardson, Pyšek & Carlton, 2011) and invading any of the subterranean systems considered herein (i.e. S1, S2, SF1 and SF2, see above). We acknowledge that this is a broad generalisation: nativeness is a nuanced and highly dynamic concept (Lemoine & Svenning, 2022; Verbrugge, Leuven & Zwart, 2016) whose assessment necessarily entails a certain degree of interpretation and subjectivity. However, given the scarce information available, we found this simplification to be appropriate for our analysis.

(2) Standardised literature search

We conducted a systematic literature review focused on the occurrence of subterranean alien species. In August 2021, we performed standardised literature searches in the Clarivate Analytics *Web of Science*. For the literature search, we followed the PRISMA reporting standard (Moher *et al.*, 2009; O'Dea *et al.*, 2021).

We initially trialled several combinations of words for our *Web of Science* query string, aiming to improve the search specificity. During this exploratory trial, we found that the use of generic terms such as 'Subterranean' and 'cave' resulted in an excess of irrelevant articles often referring to archaeological, anthropological, or mineralogical aspects. To minimise this number of irrelevant references, we added a 'NOT' criterion while also restricting our search to *Web of Science* Categories referring to natural science and biology. The final search string was: TS = ("cave*" OR "hypoge*" OR "subterranean" OR "lava tube*") AND TS = ("alien*" OR "invasive" OR "introduced" OR "exotic" OR "non-native" OR "non native" OR "non-indigenous") NOT TS = ("termite*" OR "fungi" OR "marine" OR "architecture" OR "Archaeol*" OR "microbial" OR

852

"medicine" OR "speleogenesis" OR "art" OR "histor*" OR "agricult*") AND WC = (Ecology, Zoology OR Entomology OR Geosciences Multidisciplinary OR Biodiversity Conservation OR Multidisciplinary Sciences OR Agriculture Multidisciplinary OR Environmental Sciences OR Plant Sciences OR Geology OR Agronomy OR Marine Freshwater Biology OR Biology OR Genetics Heredity OR Soil Science OR Biotechnology Applied Microbiology OR Forestry OR Evolutionary Biology OR Education Educational Research OR Fisheries OR Horticulture OR Microbiology OR Veterinary Sciences OR Agriculture Dairy Animal Science OR Oceanography OR Toxicology OR Anatomy Morphology OR Mycology OR Education Scientific Disciplines OR Infectious Diseases OR Ornithology).

This initial search yielded 2781 papers. We screened the titles and abstracts of all papers obtained from this search for eligibility to be included in the review, selecting \mathcal{N} = 448 for potential inclusion. We then read the full text of each of these papers to select relevant studies based on a set of inclusion/exclusion criteria. We included studies if they: (*i*) investigated the state of subterranean ecosystem components potentially impacted by alien species; (*ii*) provided subterranean fauna inventories including the presence of subterranean alien species; and (*iii*) investigated the effect of management practices in subterranean ecosystems to control or eradicate subterranean alien species. We excluded studies that: (*iv*) focused on subterranean alien species in nonsubterranean habitats; (*v*) focused on 'Subterranean tidal' ecosystems (SM1, see Section II.1). A total of 43 papers met our criteria (Fig. S1).

We cross-checked the resulting list of subterranean alien species with the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF; www.gbif.org; accessed December 2021) and International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) ISSG Global Invasive Species Database (www.iucngisd.org/gisd/; accessed December 2021) to verify the current status (i.e. if the species is currently considered as alien in the specific country) and level of invasiveness of the alien species present in our database.

(3) Additional literature search

Given that the literature on alien species includes grey literature not listed on the *Web of Science*, including technical reports and articles not in English (Haddaway *et al.*, 2020; Chowdhury *et al.*, 2022), we conducted parallel searches for additional papers to maximise the comprehensiveness of our database. For each paper selected above, we inspected the reference list to retrieve additional potentially relevant literature. We also performed a search in *Google Scholar* (Haddaway *et al.*, 2015) using the same key words listed in Section II.2. These additional searches resulted in 61 papers added to our database (Fig. S1).

(4) Meta-data extraction

The full list of the metadata extracted and their sources is presented in Table 1. The literature database is provided as

online supporting information in Table S1. For each paper, we read the full text and extracted detailed information (Fig. 1), including the year of the study and the country where the study occurred. Next, we recorded the alien species (see definition in Section II.1) mentioned in each publication, its most recent taxonomy (based on the GBIF database), the domain (terrestrial or freshwater), and the type of subterranean habitat in which the species was found using Keith *et al.* (2022) as: 'Subterranean lithic', 'Anthropogenic subterranean voids', 'Subterranean freshwater', or 'Anthropogenic subterranean lithic habitat into 'limestone cave' and 'lava tubes'.

We included the biogeographic region of origin of the alien species (Global, Afrotropical, Indomalayan, Nearctic, Neotropical, Oceanian, Palaearctic, Unknown), based on the information reported complemented by species-specific literature searches.

We included a generic indication of the possible establishment of the subterranean alien species (Occasional, Naturalised, Unknown) based on the information provided in each paper. If not specifically stated, we considered as naturalised (i.e. established) a species forming plausible self-replacing populations (i.e. abundant, spread across multiple locations and present throughout the year) (Richardson *et al.*, 2000). In other cases, we considered the species as 'Occasional'. When the information was missing or insufficient to define its status, we classified it as 'Unknown'.

For the type of impact, impact outcome, and management activities we referred to the categories/classifications present in the IUCN Global Invasive Species Database.

Based on the information reported in each publication, we registered the impact outcome of the subterranean alien species (Ecosystem/habitat, Species/population, and/or Socio-economic, or Unknown), and performed an overall assessment of the direction of this impact (Positive, Negative, Neutral or Unknown). For Socio-economic impact, we also used the InvaCost database (version 4.0) (Diagne *et al.*, 2020*a*,*b*) to obtain an estimate of the globally reported costs of that alien species. Although the available data do not specifically refer to subterranean habitats, they provide a proxy indication of the potential socio-economic impact in subterranean habitats.

We classified the ecological impacts on the subterranean habitat caused by each species into 13 mechanisms: Competition (the alien species competes with cave-dwelling native taxa for resources); Predation (the alien species predates cave-dwelling native taxa); Hybridisation (the alien species hybridises with cave-dwelling native taxa); Disease transmission (the alien species transmits diseases to native cavedwelling species); Parasitism (the alien taxon parasitises cave-dwelling native taxa); Poisoning/toxicity (the alien taxon is toxic or allergenic to cave-dwelling native taxa); Bio-fouling (the alien taxon deposits on surfaces or septa of cave-dwelling native taxa, compromising their functionality); Grazing/herbivory/browsing (the alien species affects the functional species composition of plant communities);

Metadata	Sources	Description	Levels
Species	Investigated literature	Scientific name of the subterranean alien	-
Class	GBIF backbone	species Class of the subterranean alien species	-
Order	GBIF backbone	Order of the subterranean alien species	-
Organism group	Investigated literature	Taxonomic group included in the database	Invertebrate; Vertebrate; Plant
Trophic level	Investigated literature	Level or position in food chain, food web, or ecological pyramid of the subterranean alien species	Detritivore; Herbivore; Omnivore; Parasite; Predator; Primary producer
Location	Investigated literature	Invaded country out of the native range of the subterranean alien species	-
Domain	Investigated literature; General literature	Type of ecosystem in which the subterranean alien species occurs	Terrestrial; Freshwater
Microhabitat	Investigated literature	Type of habitat in which the subterranean alien species occurs	Subterranean lithic; Anthropogenic subterranean voids; Subterranean freshwater; Anthropogenic subterranean freshwater
Origin continent	Investigated literature; GISD; GBIF	Continent in which the subterranean alien species originated and/or where it first arrived without human intervention. Species with a 'Cosmopolitan' distribution are recognised as alien although their specific geographic origin is unknown	Asia; Africa; North America; South America; Antarctica; Europe; Oceania; Unknown; Cosmopolitan
Biogeographic origin	Literature; General literature; GISD; GBIF	Bioregion in which the subterranean alien species originated and/or where it first arrived without human intervention	Global; Afrotropical; Indomalayan; Nearctic; Neotropical; Oceanian; Palaearctic; Unknown
Established	Investigated literature	Indication of the possible naturalisation of the subterranean alien species into the new habitat/country	Naturalised; Occasional; Unknown
Adaptive trait	Investigated literature; General literature	Indication of the presence or absence of adaptations commonly present in the subterranean alien species	Yes; No
Trait	Investigated literature; General literature	Type of adaptation present in the subterranean alien species	Absence of eyes; Behavioural traits; Depigmentation; Elongated appendages; Eyes reduction: Physiological adaptations
Presence of wings	Investigated literature; General literature	Considered a proxy for dispersal ability	Yes; No
Impact	Investigated literature	General impact caused by the subterranean alien species	Positive; Negative; Neutral; Unknown
Mechanism	Investigated literature	Any change in ecological or ecosystem properties, excluding socio-economic effects and human values	Competition; Predation; Hybridisation; Disease transmission; Parasitism; Poisoning/toxicity; Bio-fouling; Grazing/ herbivory/browsing; Rooting/digging; Trampling; Flammability; Interaction with other invasive species; Other; Unknown
Impact outcome	Investigated literature; InvaCost database (for socio-economic impacts culv)	Impact of subterranean alien species: changes to environmental or socio- economic parameters	Ecosystem – Habitat; Species – population; Socio- economic; Unknown
Pathway	Investigated literature; General literature; GISD; GBIF	Pathways of introduction: how a species is transported (intentionally or unintentionally) outside its natural geographical range	Release; Escape; Transport – contaminant; Transport – stowaway; Corridors; Unaided; Unknown

Table 1. Summary of the extracted metadata and their sources.

(Continues on next page)

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 849-867 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table 1. (Cont.)

Metadata	Sources	Description	Levels
Management Investigated literatu		Any lethal or non-lethal action aimed at the eradication, population control or containment of a population of an invasive alien species	Prevention; Eradication; Control; Monitoring; None

In 'Sources', 'Investigated literature' refers to the literature extracted in our systematic survey; 'General literature' refers to additional literature sourced for each species using *Google Scholar* and by inspecting reference lists. GBIF, Global Biodiversity Information Facility; GISD, Global Invasive Species Database.

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 849-867 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Rooting/digging (the alien species alters the soil layers); Trampling (the alien taxon causes impacts on substrate properties); Flammability (the alien species modifies the fire regime by altering the inherent flammability of the ecosystem); Interaction with other invasive species (the alien species interacts with other introduced species); Other (other impacts not included above); and Unknown (no documented impact). Note that a single species may fit into multiple categories.

We noted management activities (either suggested or implemented) to prevent or limit the spread of the alien species: Prevention (any measures aimed at preventing alien species from entering a nation or habitat); Eradication (any practice that aims to eradicate the alien species completely); Control (any long-term practice for limiting abundance or density of the alien species); Monitoring (any short- or longterm monitoring program of the status of an alien species); and None (no actions in place, or none known, to prevent the presence or spread of the alien species).

We specified the pathway through which the species reached the recipient region according to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) pathway categorisation (CBD, 2014). Pathways included seven categories: Release (released intentionally for the purpose of human activities, e.g. biological control, fishery, hunting activities, or others); Escape (released unintentionally from confinement, e.g. aquaria, aquaculture, or scientific research); Transport - contaminant (the alien species has a trophic or biotic relationship to organisms or items being transported and on which its survival depends); Transport - stowaway (the alien species has no trophic or biotic relationship to the organisms or items being transported or, if there is any, the alien can survive in their absence); Corridors (dispersed through the establishment of an anthropogenic dispersal corridor such as tunnels or bridges); Unaided (moved naturally across borders); and Unknown (unknown pathway). When available, we also specified the pathway by which alien species were introduced into new subterranean environments within a recipient region, following the same categorisation (see pathways in bold in Table S1).

(5) Species-level traits

We referred to specialised literature to collect species-specific traits for each subterranean species in our database. In the absence of universal criteria that could be applied to quantify the degree of subterranean adaptation, we reported the presence/absence of adaptations commonly present in subterranean species (Pipan & Culver, 2012) based on the biological information available for each species. We scored the following traits: Depigmentation, Absence of eyes, Eyes reduction, Elongated appendages, Behavioural traits, and Physiological adaptations (e.g. lower metabolic rate, reduction in the number of eggs, increased longevity). We also recorded the presence/absence of wings as a proxy for dispersal ability (presence of wings). We also collected data on the trophic level of the subterranean alien species (Detritivore, Herbivore, Omnivore, Parasite, Predator, Primary producer) based on the biological information available for each species.

(6) Data analysis

We carried out analyses in R version 4.2.0. (R Core Team, 2021). We summarised data on alien species in subterranean ecosystems using bar charts and other graphical tools from the package *ggplot2* version 3.3.6. (Wickham, 2016). We visualised the geographic dimension of biological invasions in subterranean ecosystems by projecting onto a global map a network connecting the biogeographic region of origin and the recipient country for each species included in the database.

Finally, we constructed a regression model to explore the role of species traits in explaining the probability of a given alien species establishing in subterranean habitats (see bottom panel in Fig. 1). For model construction and validation, we followed Zuur & Ieno (2016). Given that the response variable is binary (species is established or not) we modelled data using a Bernoulli distribution and a cloglog link function, suitable for an unbalanced binary distribution in the response variable. We fitted the model using a generalised linear mixed model (GLMM) with the R package lme4 version 1.1-27 (Bates et al., 2015). The structure of the model, in R notation, was: y ~ Adaptive traits + Trophic level + Presence of wings + (1 | Class/Order), where: 'Adaptive traits' is the presence or absence of any adaptive trait related to subterranean life (see Section II.5 and Table 1 for the full list), which we interpreted as possible preadaptations aiding alien species to overcome the environmental filter posed by subterranean environments (Mammola, 2017). We only considered the explanatory variable 'Adaptive traits' in our model rather than each single trait given the limited number of species DATA EXTRACTION

DATA ANALYSIS

.



Fig. 1. Infographic summarising the study workflow (data extraction and data analysis). See Section II.6 for variables included in the analysis. GLMM, generalised linear mixed model; IAS, invasive alien species.

presenting subterranean traits, and the consequent prevalence of zeros (i.e. absence of traits).

'Trophic level' is a categorical variable that we included to test whether different trophic groups are more likely than others to establish in subterranean habitats. We used the trophic levels Detritivore, Predator, Omnivore, and Others; with 'Others' here including the least common trophic levels Herbivore, Primary producer and Parasite, which we grouped together to balance factor levels. 'Presence of wings' refers to the presence or absence of wings, which we interpreted as a proxy for dispersibility in a range-expanding population. The random structure of the model was used to control for data non-independence, under the assumption that taxonomically related species may express more similar traits than expected from random. We validated the model with the R package *performance* version 0.9.0. (Lüdecke *et al.*, 2021).

III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

We included 104 publications in the final database (Table S1). Most of these papers were published after the

856

year 2000 (Fig. S2). This body of literature encompasses 362 reports of alien species in subterranean habitats corresponding to 246 unique alien species from 18 classes invading subterranean habitats (Fig. 2).

(1) What are the most frequent alien taxa present in subterranean environments and habitats?

Most of the subterranean alien species were reported in terrestrial subterranean habitats (322/362 cases; 88.9%), rather than freshwater (40/362; 11.0%). Subterranean lithic was the most invaded terrestrial ecosystem (323 cases) of which 194 (53.6%) reports concerned limestone caves and 129 (35.6%) lava caves, followed by anthropogenic subterranean voids with 14 cases (3.87%).

From these 362 cases, we extracted information on 246 unique species invading subterranean habitats. These were mostly invertebrates (211; 85.8%), followed by vertebrates (20; 8.1%) and plants (15; 6.1%) (Fig. 3A). Among invertebrates, arthropods dominated, especially the class Insecta (59 species; 24.0%) followed by Arachnida (46; 18.7%), Entognatha (32; 13.0%), and Diplopoda (19; 7.7%). Vertebrates were represented by Actinopterygii (10 species; 4.1%), followed by Amphibia and Mammalia with five species each (2.0%). This pattern reflects the dominant groups in subterranean food webs (Deharveng & Bedos, 2018). In surface ecosystems insects are considered among the most invasive organisms (Seebens et al., 2017), although current knowledge in invasion ecology might be taxonomically and/or geographically biased (Pyšek et al., 2008). Among invertebrates, the other dominant group was the class Malacostraca (Gastropoda) (22; 8.9%) (Fig. 3A). Despite the general adverse conditions in caves for plants, the class Magnoliopsida constituted 5.3% of all species in our database, being mostly represented by species colonising the entrance zone, or penetrating the soil and reaching the cave with their roots.

Araneae and Collembola were the most dominant orders, represented respectively by 31 species (12.6%) and 30 species (12.2%), followed by Coleoptera (16; 6.5%), Isopoda (14; 5.7%), and Hymenoptera (10; 4.1%) (Fig. 3B). Among vertebrates, Caudata and Cyprinodontiformes were the best represented orders with five species each (2.0%).

The five species identified most often in caves are the diplopod Oxidus gracilis (15 cases), followed by the fire-ant Solenopsis invicta (14), the cockroach Periplaneta americana (7), the spiders Nesticella mogera (7) and Psilochorus simoni (7) and the worm Bimastos rubidus (5).

Subterranean ecosystems are generally regarded as nutrient-poor environments that mainly depend on energy inputs from the surface (Culver & Pipan, 2019). Consequently, food webs are bottom-truncated (Gibert & Deharveng, 2002) and detritus-based; herbivores are usually absent, although cave root feeders may be present (Howarth, 1983). As expected, detritivores were the dominant feeding group among the 246 subterranean alien species detected in subterranean ecosystems, encompassing 81 species (33.0%), followed by predators (70; 28.5%), omnivores (60; 24.4%), and herbivores (18; 7.3%).

(2) What are the origins, recipient countries and pathways of alien species introductions in subterranean ecosystems?

The greatest proportion of alien species in our database has a Palaearctic origin (116; 47.2%), followed by Neotropical (26; 10.6%), Indomalayan (23; 9.3%), Afrotropical (15; 6.1%), Nearctic (18; 7.3%) and Oceanian (10; 4.1%); 15 species (6.1%) have a global distribution, with information lacking for 23 species (9.3%) (Fig. 4).

Palearctic and Nearctic biogeographic regions represent the main source of alien species, with broad bi-directional exchanges between these two regions (Fig. 4). This trend is likely due to the greater economic development of these regions and their associated international trade and globalisation networks (Turbelin, Malamud & Francis, 2017), although could be also attributed to higher research effort on alien species in these regions (Pyšek *et al.*, 2008). In Europe, a broad contingent of species also comes from the Afrotropical and Indomalayan biogeographic regions (Fig. 4).

Records of subterranean alien species spanned 60 countries. The majority were reported from the USA, of which 56.1% are in the Hawaiian Islands (Fig. 4). This high percentage is probably due to extensive efforts by local researchers documenting the alien fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes over several decades (e.g. Howarth, 1978; Howarth *et al.*, 2007; Howarth & Stone, 2020).

Australia, a region with a long history of biological invasions (Bradshaw *et al.*, 2021), had the second highest number of reported subterranean alien species, followed by Spain (of which 88.5% of records were in the Canary Islands) and Italy (Fig. 4). This distribution again may reflect greater research efforts in these countries, as well as the paucity of information on the distribution of alien species in subterranean habitats in most countries. However, these data are in line with the global trend for invasive alien species observed by Turbelin *et al.* (2017).

Although research efforts to understand pathways of biological invasions have increased recently (Meyerson & Mooney, 2007), information on subterranean species is scarce. We could retrieve information on the routes by which alien species were introduced into the recipient country for only 64 out of 362 cases (17.7%). Of these, only in a limited number of cases (18 out of 64, 28.1%) was information about the pathways of introduction into the subterranean habitat specified. The most widespread form of introduction into the recipient country is related to trade activities (54 out of 64 cases, 84.3%: Transport – contaminant, 31 cases, 48.4%; Transport – stowaway, 36 species, 35.9%), especially for invertebrates (Fig. 5A), and in particular for predators and omnivores (Table S1).

The trade in potted plants is possibly the main vehicle of introduction of alien species into subterranean ecosystems. Invertebrate species can be passively dispersed within the



Fig. 2. Examples of alien species invading subterranean habitats. (A) *Charinus ioanniticus* (Kritscher) (Amblypygi); (B) *Loxosceles rufescens* Dufour (Araneae); (C) *Periplaneta americana* (Linnaeus) (Blattodea); (D) *Procambarus clarkii* Girard (Decapoda); (E) *Solenopsis invicta* Buren (Hymenoptera); (F) *Rattus rattus* Linnaeus (Rodentia); (G) *Gambusia* sp. (Cyprinodontiformes); (H) *Eucalyptus tereticornis* Sm. Photograph credits: Enrico Simeon (A), Francesco Tomasinelli (B, D, G), Emanuele Biggi (C), shutterdemon – stock.adobe.com (E), Carlos Aranguiz – stock.adobe.com (F), Caseyjadew – stock.adobe.com (H).

plant's pot; once the pot is placed on the ground in a garden or greenhouse, alien species may find suitable microclimatic conditions (e.g. high moisture) to thrive (Sánchez-García, 2014). Once established, they can disperse and potentially find suitable conditions in subterranean environments. This was seemingly the case for the detritivore *Oxidus* gracilis (CL Koch), known as the 'greenhouse millipede' (Iniesta et al., 2020), and the predator Caenoplana coerulea Moseley (Suárez, Martín & Naranjo, 2018), recorded in subterranean habitats globally and in the Canary Islands, respectively. The European spider Kryptonesticus eremita (Simon) plausibly might have colonised New Zealand via



Fig. 3. (A) Barplot representing the number of alien subterranean species within each taxonomic class (total number of species: $\mathcal{N} = 246$). (B) Number of alien subterranean species within each taxonomic order (orders with less than two species are not included). The silhouette size for each order is proportional to the number of species detected through the literature survey. Each order is represented by an illustrative example. a: Amphipoda; b: Araneae; c: Blattodea; d: Carnivora; e: Caudata; f: Coleoptera; g: Collembola; h: Crassiclitellata; i: Cyclopoida; j: Cyprinodontiformes; k: Decapoda; l: Diplura; m: Diptera; n: Fabales; o: Hemiptera; p: Hymenoptera; q: Isopoda; r: Julida; s: Laurales; t: Laurales; u: Lepidoptera; v: Lithobiomorpha; w: Mesostigmata; x: Myrtales; y: Opisthopora; z: Orthoptera; aa: Polydesmida; ab: Sapindales; ac: Siluriformes; ad: Stylommatophora.

shipping containers, considering the proximity between the site of detection of this species and the port of Auckland (Vink & Dupérré, 2011).

The deliberate introduction of alien species represents the third most common pathway (21/64 cases; 32.8%), especially for vertebrates (Fig. 5A), and mostly among omnivores (Table S1). Animals may be deliberately released for their food value, especially in freshwater ecosystems (e.g. Hobbs, Jass & Huner, 1989). For example, the red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard) has spread widely throughout freshwater bodies across Europe since its first introduction in Spain (Habsburgo-Lorena, 1978; Souty-Grosset *et al.*, 2016) now representing one of the 100 worst invasive species (DAISIE, 2008). It is increasingly being documented also in aquifers and caves (Mazza *et al.*, 2014; Souty-Grosset *et al.*, 2016; Di Russo *et al.*, 2017; Cilenti *et al.*, 2017).

On rare occasions, alien species have been introduced into subterranean environments for scientific purposes. The olm Proteus anguinus Laurenti, a specialised subterranean salamander inhabiting caves in the Dinarides, was deliberately released during the 1940s into a suitable cave in the Mendip Hills, UK (Chapman, 1993). However, there is no evidence that it became established (Lewarne & Allain, 2020). Likewise, Hydromantes salamanders have been intentionally released outside their natural range as part of scientific experiments. Evidence suggests the possible establishment of a persistent population capable of reproducing in their new subterranean habitat in the French Pyrenees (Lunghi et al., 2018). Among invertebrates, the beetle Speonomus normandi hydrophilus (Jeannel), originally distributed in the French Pyrenees, has been experimentally introduced into Dzwonnica Cave (Poland). Interestingly, there is evidence for molecular divergence between the native and introduced 1469185x, 2023, 3. Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/bvr.12933 by Universita Di Tonino, Wiley Online Library on [08/05/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License



Fig. 4. Exchanges of subterranean alien taxa among biogeographic regions and countries. Circles represent one of the six bioregions (the black circle marks species with a global and/or uncertain origin; its position is arbitrary). Triangles represent the number of alien species detected in each country, with the size of the triangles proportional to the number of species. Lines represent the number of alien species exchanged between bioregions and countries, with the thickness of the lines proportional to the number of species.

populations, suggesting that the local conditions might have an important influence on haplotype diversity of both populations (Kocot-Zalewska, Domagała & Lis, 2021).

Finally, escapes represent the least frequent form of introduction (6/64 cases; 9.4%), although they are more common for vertebrates (Fig. 5A). Escape is considered among the most common pathways for alien plants and vertebrates (Saul *et al.*, 2017), especially through the horticulture trade (Turbelin *et al.*, 2017). This route was mostly represented among omnivores in our database (Table S1).

(3) What are the impacts of alien species in subterranean habitats?

Our results reveal that in most cases the impact of alien species in subterranean ecosystems is unknown (280 out of 362 cases; 77.3%), whereas they have negative biological consequences in 82 out of 362 cases (22.7%).

The outcome was specified in our database in only 76 cases. Of these, 65 out of 76 cases (85.5%) have negative repercussions at the species/population level and 49 out of 76 (41.3%) on ecosystems/habitat.

Information on the mechanisms through which alien species impact native subterranean organisms and/or ecosystems was available for 67 cases, with the most important being competition (40/67 cases; 59.7%) and predation (26; 38.8%), followed by disease transmission (7; 10.4%) and parasitism (4; 6.0%). There were single records of negative impacts *via* grazing/herbivory/browsing, poisoning/toxicity, rooting/digging, interaction with other invasive species, and hybridisation. Information about mechanisms was lacking for the majority of cases included in our database (295 out of 362 cases; 81.5%) (Fig. 5B).

Competition of alien species with native organisms was most prevalent for plants and vertebrates (Fig. 5B), and mostly affects omnivores and primary producers (Table S1). Many alien species have traits that allow them to outcompete residents once they establish themselves in new areas. This is true for *P. clarkii* which occur at greater densities and tend to be more active in comparison with indigenous cravfish species (Reynolds, 2011). The presence of *P. clarkii* in subterranean ecosystems is widely reported (e.g. Mazza et al., 2014; Souty-Grosset et al., 2016; Di Russo et al., 2017; Cilenti et al., 2017), and established populations are able to thrive over a wide range of biotic and abiotic conditions from tropical to temperate zones (Gherardi & Panov, 2009; Siesa et al., 2011). Likewise, the non-subterranean spider N. mogera (Yaginuma) appears to be outcompeting local populations of the spider Erigone stygia Gertsch in the midto high-elevation caves on Hawai'i Island. Due to the constant supply of new individuals from surface habitats, the alien spider is replacing E. stygia, and probably exploits same prey (Howarth, 1978).

Although plants cannot colonise light-deprived underground environments, roots may penetrate the ceilings of shallow caves and other superficial subterranean habitats competing with local species and causing management issues (Howarth *et al.*, 2007).

Predation represents the second most common impact mechanism in subterranean ecosystems (38.8% of cases), mostly among invertebrates and vertebrates (Fig. 5B), and especially for omnivores (Table S1). The red fire ant



Fig. 5. (A) Introduction pathways for the 246 subterranean alien species into the recipient area. (B) Mechanisms of impacts in the 362 cases studied present in our database (mechanisms with a frequency equal to zero are not included). (C) Management activities discussed in the 362 cases studied present in our database. Circle size is proportional to the percentage of species or cases for each group (invertebrates, vertebrates, and plants). N indicates the total number of cases for each group.

S. invicta Buren represents one of the most harmful predators in subterranean ecosystems (Elliott, 1992, 2000; Taylor, Krejca & Denight, 2005; Cokendolpher et al., 2009; Pape, 2016). S. invicta is considered one of the 14 worst invasive alien insect species worldwide (Lowe et al., 2000) and is included within the top 100 of the World's worst invasive species by the IUCN (Boudjelas et al., 2000). Although it is not strictly subterranean, it often constructs mounds near cave entrances because of suitable microclimatic conditions (Elliott, 1993). From there, individuals enter the caves and prey efficiently on numerous subterranean species, including several endangered species (Elliott, 1993; Cokendolpher et al., 2009).

Some vertebrates can be efficient predators in subterranean ecosystems and may pose a serious threat to cave-dwelling species. The presence of rats (*Rattus rattus*), a cosmopolitan pest widely recognised as one of the most damaging invasive species worldwide [Global Invasive Species Database (GISD), 2020], has been highlighted in numerous caves in the Hawaiian Islands. Rats enter caves in search of water and food and may prey on native species (Howarth & Stone, 2020). Although underrepresented in the literature, subterranean alien species can also transmit disease (10.4%) or have impacts via parasitism (6.0%) (Fig. 5B). Introduction of the guppy *Poecilia reticulata* Peters into the subterranean karst habitat of Christmas Island (Australia) is considered a threat due to both its highly predatory activity and to its potential transmission of a parasite (Asian fish tapeworm *Bothriocephalus acheilognathi* Yamaguti) which could threaten eleotrid fish populations (Humphreys, 2014). The bed bug *Cimex lectularius* Linnaeus has been recorded to feed on bats and probably transmits *Trypanosoma cruzi* Chagas (Reeves, 1999). The browndog tick *Rhipicephalus sanguineus* Latreille introduced into North America from Europe is a vector for several diseases (Reeves, 1999).

(4) What are the socio-economic impacts of alien species in subterranean ecosystems?

Of all alien species found in subterranean ecosystems, only 2.2% have been associated with a socio-economic impact, although these costs have not been quantified in detail. Information on costs associated with alien species in subterranean

ecosystems is very limited. This may not be surprising as many of these species are invertebrates, which are generally underrepresented in the literature (Cardoso *et al.*, 2011; Titley, Snaddon & Turner, 2017). Additionally, when a species has no or little impact in a certain habitat, there will be no assessment of damage or intervention costs.

A recently developed database on the economic costs of invasive alien species globally (Diagne *et al.*, 2020*a*), and associated studies using this database, provide an opportunity to look in more detail at the economic costs associated with alien species present also in caves.

Among these, only *S. invicta* is known to be associated with substantial costs (Angulo *et al.*, 2022). This species is among the most notorious invasive species in subterranean ecosystems, and is considered a serious land invertebrate pest. Its invasive behaviour leads to impacts on human health, livestock, biodiversity, crops, and machinery (Wojcik *et al.*, 2001). Elliott (1993) evaluated the efficacy and relative cost of different treatment methods in subterranean habitats, but a general estimate of the socio-economic cost of this species in such habitats is still lacking.

Some species are associated with very high economic costs in other habitats. For example, of the 100 World's worst invasive alien species, *R. rattus* has the second highest associated costs (Cuthbert *et al.*, 2021), however, these reported costs resulted mainly from severe impacts on resident animal populations on islands (e.g. through predation of birds' eggs) and from efforts to eradicate them (e.g. Genovesi, 2005; Parkes, Byrom & Edge, 2017). The economic costs associated with this species in subterranean ecosystems remain largely unknown (Howarth & Stone, 2020).

Although unquantified, the introduction of alien species into subterranean ecosystems may also have social costs. These can include a decrease or loss of heritage value of cave-dwelling native species (Souty-Grosset *et al.*, 2016). For example, the presence of alien crayfish can lead to the disappearance of festivals celebrating native crayfish (Reynolds & Souty-Grosset, 2011).

(5) What are the management interventions used to protect subterranean habitats?

Management interventions have been used in only in a limited number of cases (22/362) in subterranean ecosystems (Fig. 5C). Furthermore, the effectiveness of these interventions has seldom been tested statistically (Mammola *et al.*, 2022), and most knowledge on eradication activities remains qualitative (Simberloff, 2002; Genovesi, 2005). Eradication actions have been undertaken to counteract the spread of the fire ant *S. invicta* in the southern USA. The most efficient methodology seems to be the use of boiling water to kill ants in the nest. Even though this is labour-intensive, it avoids the problem of non-target species consuming insecticidal baits (Elliott, 2000). However, it is not a cost-effective method over large areas (Elliott, 1992, 1993). The trapping and hand removal of *P. clarkii* from subterranean habitats 86

1469185x, 2023, 3. Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.12933 by Universita Di Torino, Wiley Online Library on (08/05/2023). See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

has reduced populations of this species, but has not led to its eradication from these ecosystems (Mouser *et al.*, 2018).

When eradication fails, long-term control activities can limit the impact of an alien species, reducing its density and abundance (Mooney *et al.*, 2005). Several methods to control the dispersal of *P. clarkii* have been tested, with a synergistic approach using different methodologies often the most successful (Souty-Grosset *et al.*, 2016). For rats, control activities are generally carried out by both public and private agencies, but caves usually are not included in such efforts (Howarth & Stone, 2020).

Prevention actions can stop a species from colonising new areas (Mooney *et al.*, 2005). For example, the installation of artificial barriers can be a useful mechanism to prevent the entrance and spread of alien species in subterranean streams (Mouser *et al.*, 2018). However, besides the cost implications of such barriers often being high, they may alter the flow regime and/or microclimatic conditions, while also preventing the movement of organisms in stream ecosystems (Ellis & Jones, 2013).

(6) Are there common traits shared by alien species that successfully establish in subterranean ecosystems?

Of the 246 alien species listed in our data set, 127 (51.6%) are considered to be successfully naturalised in subterranean habitats. Insects and arachnids make up the greatest proportion of naturalised species, with other invertebrate groups (gastropods and myriapods) underrepresented. Approximately one third of the species recorded in subterranean habitats are not considered to be established (73/246 species). No information on establishment success was available for 46 species (18.7%).

Only some of these alien species exhibit adaptations to subterranean life (90/246; 36.6%), including depigmentation, eye loss/reduction, or a preference for dark and humid habitats. This limited number of alien species strictly adapted to subterranean environments (e.g. *Proteus anguinus*, *Parabathyscia dematteisi*) mostly pertains to escapes of species



Fig. 6. Effect sizes for the Bernoulli generalised linear mixed model assessing the relationship between species traits and the probability of becoming established in subterranean ecosystems. See Table 2 for model results. *, P < 0.001.

Predictor	Estimate	S.E.	Z	Р
Intercept	-0.693	0.480	-1.445	0.148
Adaptive trait [Yes]	1.436	0.378	3.803	< 0.001
Presence of wings [Yes]	0.427	0.544	0.784	0.432
Trophic level [Others]	-1.078	-0.662	-1.628	0.104
Trophic level [Omnivore]	0.263	0.505	0.522	0.602
Trophic level [Predator]	0.329	0.558	0.590	0.556

Table 2. Estimated regression parameters according to a Bernoulli generalised linear mixed model (GLMM) investigating the drivers of established alien species in subterranean habitats.

For predictor variables, we report in square brackets the level that is being tested. For the variables 'Adaptive trait' and 'Presence of wings', the baseline level used in the analysis is 'No'. For the variable 'Trophic level', the baseline level is 'Detritivores'.

introduced into subterranean habitats for scientific purposes (e.g. Chapman, 1993; Lewarne & Allain, 2020). This is probably due to the high sensitivity of such species to even small environmental variations (e.g. Barr & Kuehne, 1971; Howarth, 1980; Culver, 2005; Nicolosi *et al.*, 2021) limiting their dispersal outside a subterranean environment.

Our modelling showed that the presence of adaptive traits is the strongest predictor of the probability that a species will become established in a subterranean habitat (binomial GLMM: estimated $\beta \pm$ SE: 1.44 \pm 0.38, z = 3.80, P < 0.001; Fig. 6; Table 2). Additionally, the probability of establishing in a subterranean habitat was lower for species in the trophic level 'Others' (including herbivores, primary producers and parasites in this analysis) compared to detritivores, although this did not reach statistical significance ($\beta \pm$ SE: -1.08 \pm 0.66, z = -1.63, P = 0.10). No other traits were found to exert a significant effect on the probability of becoming established in a subterranean habitat (Table 2). The regression model explained 47% of the variance (conditional r^2 : 0.47), of which over 28% was attributable to species taxonomy.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Due to their simplified trophic web, low species diversity, and high spatial confinement, subterranean ecosystems are generally considered more vulnerable than surface ecosystems to anthropogenic disruption (Mammola et al., 2019). Whilst many authors have suggested that the presence of alien species may contribute significantly to the decline of subterranean species and ecosystems (e.g. Mazza et al., 2014; Suárez et al., 2018; Howarth & Stone, 2020), the true extent of their impact remains unclear (Mammola et al., 2020). Furthermore, our understanding is geographically and taxonomically biased. In-depth studies remain needed to understand the significance of alien species in subterranean ecosystems and how they affect the subterranean biota. This review provides the first comprehensive global synthesis of alien species in subterranean ecosystems. By organising the available information, it is hoped that this study will stimulate work to fill major knowledge gaps.

(2) From the available literature, the number of alien species observed in subterranean habitats is rather small. This is in stark contrast to surface systems, where databases on alien species are available at continental, regional, or national scales resulting from large international collaborations such as the Global Invasive Species Database (http://www.issg. org/database), the Global Register of Introduced and Invasive Alien Species (www.griis.org; Pagad *et al.*, 2018), and alien species inventories for Europe (Roy *et al.*, 2020). Interestingly, none of these databases report specific information on alien species in subterranean ecosystems, with caves and related environments generally not even included as a separate habitat.

(3) Although only limited data are available, it appears that only a few alien species represent a threat to subterranean ecosystems and to the species living therein. To colonise subterranean systems, alien species need to overcome the strong ecological filter imposed by the absence of light and the scarcity of food (Culver & Pipan, 2019). Successful invaders must therefore possess traits that enable them to cope with these environmental constraints (Reeves, 1999; Mammola, 2017). This was confirmed by our analysis, which suggested that the main predictor explaining the probability of a species becoming established in subterranean systems is the presence of pre-adaptive traits.

(4) Interactions between human activities and climate change might accelerate the spread of alien species into new environments, including subterranean habitats. However, investigations on the links between invasions and environmental changes in subterranean habitats are still rare (but see Mammola & Isaia, 2017). A common framework for the study of the consequences of climate changes and the routes of transport, establishment and impacts of alien species will be necessary to understand long-term consequences for subterranean ecosystems.

(5) Researchers in the field of subterranean biology should report the presence of alien species when preparing species inventories in addition to recording the presence of endemicity and rarity. Greater awareness of the presence and distribution of alien species will allow a greater understanding of the potential distribution and spread of alien invertebrate species in subterranean habitats, laying the foundations for future management practices and interventions. It is currently difficult to recommend management practices in the absence of well-documented relationships between native and alien species (Reeves, 1999). Adequate and rapid dissemination of information on alien species will be crucial to prevent and manage their expansion effectively (CBD, 2000), because impacts can occur in different environments through a variety of mechanisms (Ricciardi *et al.*, 2013). We need to work towards the efficient prevention, early detection, rapid response, and management of biological invasions in these fragile habitats.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This review was prepared within the framework of the PRIN SHOWCAVE 'A multidisciplinary research project to study, classify and mitigate the environmental impact in tourist caves' – code 2017HTXT2R (PI: Marco Isaia), funded by the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research. S. M. acknowledges support from the European Commission via the Marie Sklodowska-Curie Individual Fellowships project number 882221 ('Testing macroecological theory using simplified systems') and the Biodiversa+ project DarCo ('The vertical dimension of conservation: A cost-effective plan to incorporate subterranean ecosystems in post-2020 biodiversity and climate change agendas'). Open Access Funding provided by Universita degli Studi di Torino within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

VI. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

G. N. conceived the idea, with suggestions by M. I. and S. M. G. N. collected data. G. N. and S. M. analysed the data and prepared the figs G. N. and S. M. led the writing. M. I. revised the text and provided additions to the final draft. L. V. provided arguments on alien species and estimations of costs.

VII. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The literature database and R code to reproduce the analyses supporting this study are available in Figshare (https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.21779045.v2).

VIII. REFERENCES

References included in the database are identified with an asterisk (*).

- *AFOULLOUSS, S., SCHULTE, J., MCEVOY, A., HOGAN, R., ENNIS, C. & SULPICE, R. (2017). Occurrence, reproductive rate and identification of the non-native Noble false widow spider *Steatoda nobilis* (Thorell, 1875) in Ireland. *Biology and Environment: Proceedings of the Royal Irish Academy* **117B**, 77.
- ANGULO, E., HOFFMANN, B. D., BALLESTEROS-MEJIA, L., TAHERI, A., BALZANI, P., BANG, A., RENAULT, D., CORDONNIER, M., BELLARD, C., DIAGNE, C., AHMED, D. A., WATARI, Y. & COURCHAMP, F. (2022). Economic costs of invasive alien ants worldwide. *Biological Invasions* 24, 2041–2060.

- *ARNDT, E., ENGHOFF, H. & SPELDA, J. (2008). Millipedes (Diplopoda) of the Canarian Islands: checklist and key. *Vieraea* **36**, 1–28.
- BAQUEDANO ESTÉVEZ, C., MORENO-MERINO, L., DE LA LOSA ROMÁN, A. & DURÁN VALSERO, J. (2019). The lampenflora in show caves and its treatment: an emerging ecological problem. *International Journal of Speleology* 48, 249–277.
- BARR, T. C. & KUEHNE, R. A. (1971). Ecological studies in the Mammoth Cave System of Kentucky, II: the ecosystem. Annales de Spéléologie 26, 47–96.
- BATES, D., MÄCHLER, M., BOLKER, B. & WALKER, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using **Ime4**. *Journal of Statistical Software* 67, 1–48.
- *BELLINGER, P. F. & CHRISTIANSEN, K. A. (1974). The cavernicolous fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes, 5. Collembola. *Pacific Insets* 16, 31–40.
- *BIDEGARAY-BATISTA, L., TAITI, S., LÓPEZ, H., RIBERA, C. & ARNEDO, M. A. (2015). Endemism and evolution in the littoral woodlouse *Halophiloscia* Verhoeff, 1908 (Crustacea, Isopoda, Oniscidea) from the Canary Islands: implications for conservation policies. *Insect Conservation and Diversity* 8, 17–30.
- *BODON, M., CIANFANELLI, S. & MONTANARI, A. (2009). Mollusks of the Frasassi karstic complex and adjacent sulfidic spring. In *The Frasassi Stygobionts and their Sulfidic Environment, Genga.* Federazione Speleologica Marchigiana and Osservatorio Geologico di Coldigioco, Frasassi (Italy), pp. 9–11.
- BOUDJELAS, S., BROWNE, M., POORTER, M. DE & LOWE, S. (2000). 100 of the World's worst invasive alien species: a selection from the Global Invasive Species Database. [Accessed 09.2022] Electronic file available at https://www.iucn.org/content/100worlds-worst-invasive-alien-species-a-selection-global-invasive-speciesdatabase
- *BOUSFIELD, E. & HOWARTH, F. G. (1976). The cavernicolous fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes, 8. Terrestrial Amphipoda (Talitridae), including a new genus and species with notes on its biology. *Pacific Insects* 17, 144–154.
- BRADSHAW, C. J. A., HOSKINS, A. J., HAUBROCK, P. J., CUTHBERT, R. N., DIAGNE, C., LEROY, B., ANDREWS, L., PAGE, B., CASSEY, P., SHEPPARD, A. W. & COURCHAMP, F. (2021). Detailed assessment of the reported economic costs of invasive species in Australia. *NooBiota* 67, 511–550.
- *BRESCOVIT, A. D., BONALDO, A. B., OTT, R. & CHAVARI, J. L. (2019). To boldly go: on invasive goblin spiders in Brazil (Araneae, Oonopidae). *Iheringia. Serie Zoologia*, 109, 1–20.
 *BRIGNOLI, P. M. (1979). Ragni d'Italia XXXI. Specie cavernicole nuove o
- *BRUTON, M. N. (1975). Tragin utatia ANM. Spectra cavination index of interessanti (Arance). Quaderni del Museo di Speleologia "V. Rivera" 5, 1–48.
- *BRUTON, M. N. (1995). Inreatened fishes of the world: Clarias cavernicola Trewavas, 1936 (Clariidae). Environmental Biology of Fishes 43, 162.
- CADOTTE, M. W., CAMPBELL, S. E., LI, S., SODHI, D. S. & MANDRAK, N. E. (2018). Preadaptation and naturalization of nonnative species: Darwin's two fundamental insights into species invasion. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* **69**, 661–684.
- CADOTTE, M. W., CARBONI, M., SI, X. & TATSUMI, S. (2019). Do traits and phylogeny support congruent community diversity patterns and assembly inferences? *Journal of Ecology* 107, 2065–2077.
- *CALLOT-GIRARDI, H., WIENIN, M. & GALERA, J. L. (2012). Présence de Corbicula fluminea (Müller, 1774), en milieu cavernicole, dans la Ceze souterraine aMéjannesle-Clap, Gard, France. Le perte de la Baume Salene, un site écologique confiné remarquablement riche: Folia Conchyliologica 18, 3–14.
- *CAMPBELL, L. (2003). Endangered and Threatened Animals of Texas: Their Life History and Management. Texas Parks and Wildlife, Resource Protection Division, Endangered Resources Branch, Austin.
- *CARDOSO, P., CRESPO, L., SILVA, I., BORGES, P. & BOIEIRO, M. (2017). Species conservation profiles of endemic spiders (Araneae) from Madeira and Selvagens archipelagos, Portugal. *Biodiversity Data Journal* 5, e20810.
- CARDOSO, P., ERWIN, T. L., BORGES, P. A. V. & NEW, T. R. (2011). The seven impediments in invertebrate conservation and how to overcome them. *Biological Conservation* 144, 2647–2655.
- CBD (2000). Global strategy on invasive alien species. The Convention on Biological Diversity, UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/6/INF/9:1–52.
- CBD (2014). Pathways of introduction of invasive species, their prioritization and management. UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/18/9/Add.1, Montreal, Canada, 6/2014: 1–18.
- CHAPMAN, P. (1993). Caves and Cave Life (No. 79). HarperCollins, London, 219 pp.
- *CHAPMAN, P. R. J. (1985). Are the cavernicoles found in Hawaiian lava tubes just visiting? Proceedings of the University of Bristol Spelaeological Society 17, 175–182.
- *CHOMPHUPHUANG, N., DEOWANISH, S., SONGSANGCHOTE, C., SIVAYYAPRAM, V., THONGPREM, P. & WARRIT, N. (2016). The Mediterranean recluse spider *Loxosceles rufescens* (Dufour, 1820) (Araneae: Sicariidae) established in a natural cave in Thailand. *Journal of Arachnology* 44, 142–147.
- CHOWDHURY, S., GONZALEZ, K., AYTEKIN, M. Ç. K., BAEK, S., BEŁCIK, M., BERTOLINO, S., DUIJNS, S., HAN, Y., JANTKE, K., KATAYOSE, R., LIN, M., NOURANI, E., RAMOS, D. L., ROUYER, M., SIDEMO-HOLM, W., *ET AL.* (2022). Growth of non-English-language literature on biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology* 36, e13883.
- CIGNA, A. A. (2011). Show cave development with special references to active caves. *Tourism and Karst Areas* **4**, 7–16.
- *CILENTI, L., ALFONSO, G., GARGIULO, M., CHETTA, F., LIPAROTO, A., D'ADAMO, R. & MANCINELLI, G. (2017). First records of the crayfish *Procambarus*

Biological Reviews 98 (2023) 849-867 © 2023 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

clarkii (Girard, 1852) (Decapoda, Cambaridae) in Lake Varano and in the Salento Peninsula (Puglia region, SE Italy), with review of the current status in southern Italy. *BioInvasions Records* **6**, 153–158.

- CLAVERO, M. & GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E. (2005). Invasive species are a leading cause of animal extinctions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 20, 110.
- *COKENDOLPHER, J. C., REDDELL, J. R., TAYLOR, S., KREJCA, J. K., SUAREZ, A. & PEKINS, C. E. (2009). Further ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) from caves of Texas. In *Studies on the Cave and Endogean Fauna of North America* (eds J. C. Cokendolpher, J. R.Reddell), pp. 151–168.
- *COLLA, A., LEGITTIMO, C. M., CASTELLUCCI, F., SIMEON, E. & DE MIRANDA, G. S. (2020). First record of Amblypygi from Italy: *Charinus ioanniticus* (Charinidae). *Arachnology* 18, 642–648.
- *CORDEIRO, L. M., BORGHEZAN, R. & TRAJANO, E. (2014). Subterranean biodiversity in the Serra da Bodoquena karst area, Paraguay river basin, Mato Grosso do Sul, Southwestern Brazil. *Biota Neotropica* 14, 1–28.
- *COTORAS, D. D., WYNNE, J. J., FLORES-PRADO, L. & VILLAGRA, C. (2017). The spiders of Rapa Nui (Easter Island) revisited. *Bishop Museum Occasional Papers* 120, 1–17.
- COURCHAMP, F., FOURNIER, A., BELLARD, C., BERTELSMEIER, C., BONNAUD, E., JESCHKE, J. M. & RUSSELL, J. C. (2017). Invasion biology: specific problems and possible solutions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 32, 13–22.
- CULVER, D. C. (2005). Life history evolution. In *Encyclopedia of Caves* (eds D. C. CULVER and W. B. WHITE), pp. 346–349. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam.
- *CULVER, D. C., MASTER, L. L., CHRISTMAN, M. C. & HOBBS, H. H. III (2000). Obligate cave fauna of the 48 contiguous United States. *Conservation Biology* 14, 386–401.
- CULVER, D. C. & PIPAN, T. (2019). The Biology of Caves and Other Subterranean Habitats. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- CUTHBERT, R. N., DIAGNE, C., HAUBROCK, P. J., TURBELIN, A. J. & COURCHAMP, F. (2021). Are the "100 of the world's worst" invasive species also the costliest? *Biological Invasions* 24, 1895–1904.
- CUTHBERT, R. N., DICKEY, J. W. E., COUGHLAN, N. E., JOYCE, P. W. S. & DICK, J. T. A. (2019). The Functional Response Ratio (FRR): advancing comparative metrics for predicting the ecological impacts of invasive alien species. *Biological Invasions* 21, 2543–2547.
- DAISIE (2008). Species accounts of 100 of the most invasive alien species in Europe. In Handbook of Alien Species in Europe (eds P. E. Hulme), pp. 269–474. Springer, Dordrecht.
- *DAVIS, J., MUNKSGAARD, N., HODGETTS, J. & LAMBRINIDIS, D. (2020). Identifying groundwater-fed climate refugia in remote arid regions with citizen science and isotope hydrology. *Freshwater Biology* 66, 35–43.
- DEHARVENG, L. & BEDOS, A. (2018). Diversity of terrestrial invertebrates in subterranean habitats. In *Cave Ecology* (eds O. T. Moldovan, L'. Kováč, H. Stuart), pp. 107–172. Springer, Cham.
- *DI RUSSO, C., CHIMENTI, C., CALCARI, C., DRUELLA, C., RAMPINI, M., CENNI, V. & MARTINI, A. (2017). The allochthonous crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852) (Crustacea Cambaridae) from the subterranean stream of the Ausicave (Latium, Italy): the second documented case of cave invasion. *Biodiversity Journal* 8, 951–956.
- DIAGNE, C., LEROY, B., GOZLAN, E.R., VAISSIÈRE, A-C., ASSAILLY, C., NUNINGER, L., ROIZ, D., JOURDAIN, F., JARIC, I., COURCHAMP, F., ANGULO, E., BALLESTEROS-MEJIA, L. (2020b). InvaCost: Economic cost estimates associated with biological invasions worldwide. Figshare. Dataset. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.12668570.v4.
- DIAGNE, C., LEROY, B., GOZLAN, R. E., VAISSIÈRE, A.-C., ASSAILLY, C., NUNINGER, L., ROIZ, D., JOURDAIN, F., JARIĆ, I. & COURCHAMP, F. (2020a). InvaCost, a public database of the economic costs of biological invasions worldwide. *Scientific Data* 7, 277.
- DIAGNE, C., LEROY, B., VAISSIÈRE, A.-C., GOZLAN, R. E., ROIZ, D., JARIĆ, I., SALLES, J.-M., BRADSHAW, C. J. A. & COURCHAMP, F. (2021). High and rising economic costs of biological invasions worldwide. *Nature* 592, 571–576.
- *EBERHARD, S. M., SMITH, G. B., GIBIAN, M., SMITH, H. M. & GRAY, M. R. (2014). Invertebrate cave fauna of Jenolan. *Proceedings of the Linnean Society of New South Wales* 136, 35–68.
- *ELLIOTT, W. R. (1992). The imported red fire ant in Texas caves. NSS Bulletin 54, 83–84.
- *ELLIOTT, W.R. (1993). Fire ants and endangered cave invertebrates: a control and ecological study. Revised Final Report. Endangered Resources Branch, Resource Protection Division, Texas Parks and Wildlife Department, Austin.
- *ELLIOTT, W. R. (2000). Conservation of the North American cave and karst biota. In Ecosystems of the World (eds D. MUELLER-DOMBOIS, K. W. BRIDGES and H. L. CARSON), pp. 665–690. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- *ELLIOTT, W. R. (2011). Protecting caves and cave life. In *Encyclopedia of Caves* (eds D. C. CULVER and W. B. WHITE), pp. 428–467. Elsevier Academic Press, Amsterdam.
- ELLIS, L. E. & JONES, N. E. (2013). Longitudinal trends in regulated rivers: a review and synthesis within the context of the serial discontinuity concept. *Environmental Reviews* 21, 136–148.

- FALASCO, E., ECTOR, L., ISAIA, M., WETZEL, C., HOFFMANN, L. & BONA, F. (2014). Diatom flora in subterranean ecosystems: a review. *International Journal of Speleology* 43, 231–251.
- *FINLAY, J. B., BUHAY, J. E. & CRANDALL, K. A. (2006). Surface to subsurface freshwater connections: phylogeographic and habitat analyses of *Cambarus* tenebrosus, a facultative cave-dwelling crayfish. Animal Conservation 9, 375–387.
- *GAGNÉ, W. C. & HOWARTH, F. G. (1975). The cavernicolous fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes, 6. Mesoveliidae or water treaders (Heteroptera). *Pacific Insects* 16, 399–413.
- *GALLAO, J., BICHUETTE, M. & GIUPPONI, A. (2015). First record of Stenochrus portoricensis Chamberlin, 1922 (Arachnida: Schizomida: Hubbardiidae) for caves in Brazil: evidence for a troglophile status of an exotic species. Check List 11, 1546.
- GENOVESI, P. (2005). Eradications of invasive alien species in Europe: a review. Biological Invasions 7, 127–133.
- *GERLACH, J. (2009). Conservation of the Seychelles sheath-tailed bat Coleura seychellensis on Silhouette Island, Seychelles. Endangered Species Research 8, 5–13.
- GEROVASILEIOU, V., BANCILA, R., KATSANEVAKIS, S. & ZENETOS, A. (2022). Introduced species in Mediterranean marine caves: an increasing but neglected threat. *Mediterranean Marine Science* 23, 995–1005.
- GEROVASILEIOU, V., VOULTSIADOU, E., ISSARIS, Y. & ZENETOS, A. (2016). Alien biodiversity in Mediterranean marine caves. *Marine Ecology* 37, 239–256.
- *GERTSCH, W. J. (1973). The cavernicolous fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes, 3. Araneae (Spiders). *Pacific Insects* 15, 163–180.
- GHERARDI, F. & PANOV, V. E. (2009). Procambarus clarkii (Girard), red swamp crayfish/crawfish (Cambaridae, Crustacea). In Handbook of Alien Species in Europe (ed. P. E. HULME), pp. 81–92. Springer, Dordrecht.
- GIBERT, J. & DEHARVENG, L. (2002). Subterranean ecosystems: a truncated functional biodiversity. *BioScience* 52, 473–481.
- GISD (2020). Global invasive species database. Invasive Species Specialist Group of the IUCN. Electronic file available at http://www.issg.org/database/species/ecology. asp?si=19&fr=1&sts=sss [Accessed 11.2022].
- *GLADSTONE, N. S., NIEMILLER, M. L., HUTCHINS, B., SCHWARTZ, B., CZAJA, A., SLAY, M. E. & WHELAN, N. v. (2021). Subterranean freshwater gastropod biodiversity and conservation in the United States and Mexico. *Conservation Biology* 36, e13722.
- *GÓMEZ, K. & ESPADALER, X. (2006). Exotic ants (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) in the Balearic Islands. *Myrmecologische Nachrichten* 8, 225–233.
- *GREENSLADE, P. (2002). Systematic composition and distribution of Australian cave collembolan faunas with notes on exotic taxa. *Helictite* 38, 11–15.
- *GREENSLADE, P. (2018). Why are there so many exotic Springtails in Australia? A review. Soil Organisms 90, 141–156.
- HABSBURGO-LORENA, A. S. (1978). Present situation of exotic species of crayfish introduced into Spanish continental waters. *Freshwater Crayfish* 4, 175–184.
- HADDAWAY, N. R., BETHEL, A., DICKS, L.V., KORICHEVA, J., MACURA, B., PETROKOFSKY, G., PULLIN, A. S., SAVILAAKSO, S. & STEWART, G. B. (2020). Eight problems with literature reviews and how to fix them. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* **4**, 1582–1589.
- HADDAWAY, N. R., COLLINS, A. M., COUGHLIN, D. & KIRK, S. (2015). The role of Google Scholar in evidence reviews and its applicability to grey literature searching. *PLoS One* 10, e0138237.
- *HALLIDAY, R. (2001). Mesostigmatid mite fauna of Jenolan Caves, New South Wales (Acari: Mesostigmata). Australian Journal of Entomology 40, 299–311.
- HAMILTON, M. A., MURRAY, B. R., CADOTTE, M. W., HOSE, G. C., BAKER, A. C., HARRIS, C. J. & LICARI, D. (2005). Life-history correlates of plant invasiveness at regional and continental scales. *Ecology Letters* 8, 1066–1074.
- HAUBROCK, P. J., BALZANI, P., AZZINI, M., INGHILESI, A. F., VESELÝ, L., GUO, W. & TRICARICO, E. (2019). Shared histories of co-evolution may affect trophic interactions in a freshwater community dominated by alien species. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 355.
- *HILLS, N., HOSE, G. C., CANTLAY, A. J. & MURRAY, B. R. (2008). Cave invertebrate assemblages differ between native and exotic leaf litter. *Austral Ecology* 33, 271–277.
- HOBBS, H. H., JASS, J. P. & HUNER, J.V. (1989). A review of global crayfish introductions with particular emphasis on two North American species (Decapoda, Cambaridae). *Crustaceana* 56, 299–316.
- *HOLLER, C. JR., MAYS, J. & NIEMILLER, M. (2020). The fauna of caves and other subterranean habitats of North Carolina, USA. *Journal of Cave and Karst Studies* 82, 221–260.
- *HOLSINGER, J. R. & PECK, S. B. (1971). The invertebrate cave fauna of Georgia. Bulletin of the National Speleological Society 33, 23–44.
- *HOWARTH, F. G. (1973). The cavernicolous fauna of Hawaiian lava tubes, 1. Introduction. Pacific Insects 15, 139–151.
- *HOWARTH, F. G. (1978). Hawaii IBP synthesis: 4. The Hawaiian Lava Tube ecosystem. In Proceedings of the Second Conference in Natural Sciences Hawaii Volcanoes National Park (ed. C. W. SMITH), pp. 155–164. University of Hawaii, Honolulu.
- HOWARTH, F. G. (1980). The zoogeography of specialized cave animals: a bioclimatic model. *Evolution* 34, 394–406.

- *HOWARTH, F. G. (1981). Community structure and nice differentiation in Hawaiian lava tubes. In Island Ecosystems: Biological Organization in Selected Hawaiian Communities (eds D. MUELLER-DOMBOIS, K. W. BRIDGES and H. L. CARSON), pp. 318–336. Hutchinson Ross Publishing, Stroudsburg.
- HOWARTH, F. G. (1983). Ecology of cave arthropods. Annual Review of Entomology 28, 365–389.
- *HOWARTH, F. G., JAMES, S. A., MCDOWELL, W., PRESTON, D. J. & IMADA, C. T. (2007). Identification of roots in lava tube caves using molecular techniques: implications for conservation of cave arthropod faunas. *Journal of Insect Conservation* 11, 251–261.
- *HOWARTH, F. G., MEDEIROS, M. & STONE, F. D. (2020). Hawaiian lava tube cave associated lepidoptera from the collections of Francis G. Howarth and Fred D. Stone. *Bishop Museum Occasional Papers* 129, 37–54.
- *HOWARTH, F. G. & STONE, F. (2020). Impacts of invasive rats on Hawaiian cave resources. International Journal of Speleology 49, 35–42.
- *HULA, V. & NIEDOBOVÁ, J. (2020). The Mediterranean Recluse Spider Loxosceles nyfescens (Dufour, 1820): a new invasive for Socotra Island (Yemen). Rendiconti Lincei. Scienze Fisiche e Naturali 31, 719–723.
- HULME, P. E., BACHER, S., KENIS, M., KLOTZ, S., KÜHN, I., MINCHIN, D., NENTWIG, W., OLENIN, S., PANOV, V., PERGL, J., PYSEK, P., ROQUES, A., SOL, D., SOLARZ, W. & VILÀ, M. (2008). Grasping at the routes of biological invasions: a framework for integrating pathways into policy. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 45, 403–414.
- *HUMPHREVS, W. F. (2014). Subterranean fauna of Christmas Island: habitats and salient features. The Raffles Bulletin of Zoology. Supplement 30, 29–44.
- *INDIANA KARST CONSERVANCY, LEWIS, J. J. & LEWIS, S. L. (2008). The cave fauna of the Garrison Chaptel Karst Area: Part I, Wayne Cave. Technical Report. Division of Nature Preserves, Indiana Department of Natural Resources and Indiana Karst Conservancy, 1–15.
- *INIESTA, L. F. M., BOUZAN, R. S., RODRIGUES, P. E. S., ALMEIDA, T. M., OTT, R. & BRESCOVIT, A. D. (2020). Ecological niche modeling predicting the potential invasion of the non-native millipede Oxidus gracilis (C.L. Koch, 1847) (Polydesmida: Paradoxosomatidae) in Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Annales de la Société entomologique de France (N.S.) 56, 387–394.
- *ISAIA, M., PASCHETTA, M., LANA, E., PANTINI, P., SCHÖNHOFER, A. L., CHRISTIAN, E. & BADINO, G. (2011). Subterranean Arachnids of the Western Italian Alps (Arachnida: Araneae, Opiliones, Palpigradi, Pseudoscorpiones). Musco Regionale Scienze Naturali Monografie, Torino.
- *KARANOVIC, T. (2005). Two new genera and three new species of subterranean cyclopoids (Crustacea, Copepoda) from New Zealand, with redescription of *Goniocyclops silvestris* Harding, 1958. *Contributions to Zoology* **74**, 223–254.
- KEITH, D. A., FERRER-PARIS, J. R., NICHOLSON, E., BISHOP, M. J., POLIDORO, B. A., RAMIREZ-LLODRA, E., TOZER, M. G., NEL, J. L., MAC NALLY, R., GREGR, E. J., WATERMEYER, K. E., *ET AL.* (2022). A function-based typology for Earth's ecosystems. *Nature* **610**, 513–518.
- *KNIGHT, L. R. F. D. (2011). The aquatic macro-invertebrate fauna of Swildon's Hole, Mendip Hills, Somerset, UK. Cave and Karst Science 38, 81–92.
- *KNIGHT, L. R. F. D., BRANCELJ, A., HÄNFLING, B. & CHENEY, C. (2015). The groundwater invertebrate fauna of the Channel Islands. *Subterranean Biology* 15, 69–94.
- *KOCOT-ZALEWSKA, J., DOMAGAłA, P. J. & LIS, B. (2021). Living in isolation for almost 40 years: molecular divergence of the 28 S rDNA and COI sequences between French and Polish populations of the cave beetle Speonomus normandi hydrophilus (Jeannel, 1907). Subterranean Biology 37, 75–88.
- *KOSTANJSEK, R. & RAMSAK, L. (2005). Psilochorus simoni (Berland, 1911) (Araneae, Pholeidae), a new record for Slovenian fauna from Postojna Cave. Natura Sloveniae 7, 37–40.
- *LACKNER, T. (2013). Afroprinus cavicola gen. et sp.n. from the Afrotropical region with notes on cave-dwelling Saprininae (Coleoptera, Histeridae). ZooKeys 294, 57–73.
- LEMOINE, R. T. & SVENNING, J. (2022). Nativeness is not binary—a graduated terminology for native and non-native species in the Anthropocene. *Restoration Ecology* e13636, 1–5.
- *LEWARNE, B. & ALLAIN, S. J. (2020). The unnatural history of cave olms Proteus anguinus in England. Herpetological Bulletin 154, 18–19.
- LIEBHOLD, A. M. & TOBIN, P. C. (2008). Population ecology of insect invasions and their management. Annual Review of Entomology 53, 387–408.
- *LIENHARD, C. & ASHMOLE, N. (2011). The Psocoptera (Insecta: Psocodea) of St Helena and Ascension Island (South Atlantic) with a new record from South Africa. *Revue Suisse de Zoologie* **118**, 423–449.
- *LIM, T. W. & YUSSOF, S. S. (2009). Conservation status of the batu caves trapdoor spider (*Liphistius batuensis* Abraham (Araneae, Mesothelae)): a preliminary survey. *Malayan Nature Journal* 61, 121–132.
- LLOYD, K. M., MCQUEEN, A. A. M., LEE, B. J., WILSON, R. C. B., WALKER, S. & WILSON, J. B. (2000). Evidence on ecotone concepts from switch, environmental and anthropogenic ecotones. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 11, 903–910.

- LOWE, S., BROWNE, M., BOUDJELAS, S. & DE POORTER, M. (2000). 100 of the World's Worst Invasive Alien Species: A Selection from the Global Invasive Species Database. Invasive Species Specialist Group, Auckland.
- LÜDECKE, D., BEN-SHACHAR, M., PATIL, I., WAGGONER, P. & MAKOWSKI, D. (2021). Performance: an R package for assessment, comparison and testing of statistical models. *Journal of Open Source Software* 6, 3139.
- *LUNGHI, E., GUILLAUME, O., BLAIMONT, P. & MANENTI, R. (2018). The first ecological study on the oldest allochthonous population of European cave salamanders (*Hydromantes* sp.). *Amphibia-Reptilia* **39**, 113–119.
- *MAMMOLA, S. (2017). Modelling the future spread of native and alien congeneric species in subterranean habitats — the case of *Meta* cave-dwelling spiders in Great Britain. *International Journal of Speleology* 46, 427–437.
- MAMMOLA, S. (2019). Finding answers in the dark: caves as models in ecology fifty years after Poulson and White. *Ecography* 42, 1331–1351.
- MAMMOLA, S., AMORIM, I. R., BICHUETTE, M. E., BORGES, P. A.V., CHEEPTHAM, N., COOPER, S. J. B., CULVER, D. C., DEHARVENG, L., EME, D., FERREIRA, R. L., FISER, C., FISER, Z., FONG, D. W., GRIEBLER, C., JEFFERY, W. R., *ET AL.* (2020). Fundamental research questions in subterranean biology. *Biological Reviews* 95, 1855–1872.
- MAMMOLA, S., CARDOSO, P., CULVER, D. C., DEHARVENG, L., FERREIRA, R. L., FISER, C., GALASSI, D. M. P., GRIEBLER, C., HALSE, S., HUMPHREYS, W. F., ISAIA, M., MALARD, F., MARTINEZ, A., MOLDOVAN, O. T., NIEMILLER, M. L., *ET AL.* (2019). Scientists' warning on the conservation of subterranean ecosystems. *BioScience* **69**, 641–650.
- *MAMMOLA, S., CARDOSO, P., RIBERA, C., PAVLEK, M. & ISAIA, M. (2018). A synthesis on cave-dwelling spiders in Europe. *Journal of Zoological Systematics and Evolutionary Research* 56, 301–316.
- MAMMOLA, S., GIACHINO, P. M., PIANO, E., JONES, A., BARBERIS, M., BADINO, G. & ISAIA, M. (2016). Ecology and sampling techniques of an understudied subterranean habitat: the Milieu Souterrain Superficiel (MSS). *The Science of Nature* 103, 88.
- MAMMOLA, S. & ISAIA, M. (2017). Rapid poleward distributional shifts in the European cave-dwelling *Meta* spiders under the influence of competition dynamics. *Journal of Biogeography* 44, 2789–2797.
- MAMMOLA, S., MEIERHOFER, M. B., BORGES, P. A. V., COLADO, R., CULVER, D. C., DEHARVENG, L., DELIĆ, T., DI LORENZO, T., DRAZINA, T., FERREIRA, R. L., FIASCA, B., FISER, C., GALASSI, D. M. P., GARZOLI, L., GEROVASILEIOU, V., *ET AL.* (2022). Towards evidence-based conservation of subterranean ecosystems. *Biological Reviews* 97, 1476–1510.
- *MAZZA, G., SOFIA, A., REBOLEIRA, P. S., GONCALVES, F., AQUILONI, L., INGHILESI, A., SPIGOLI, D., STOCH, F., TAITI, S., GHERARDI, F. & TRICARICO, E. (2014). A new threat to groundwater ecosystems: first occurrences of the invasive crayfish *Procambarus clarkü* (Girard, 1852) in European caves. *Journal* of Cave and Karst Studies **76**, 62–65.
- *MCALLISTER, C. T. & ROBISON, H. W. (2018). Introduced millipeds (Arthropoda: Diplopoda) of Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and Texas. *The Southwestern Naturalist* 63, 284–289.
- MEYERSON, L. A. & MOONEY, H. A. (2007). Invasive alien species in an era of globalization. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5, 199–208.
- MOFU, L., SOUTH, J., WASSERMAN, R. J., DALU, T., WOODFORD, D. J., DICK, J. T. A. & WEYL, O. L. F. (2019). Inter-specific differences in invader and native fish functional responses illustrate neutral effects on prey but superior invader competitive ability. *Freshwater Biology* **64**, 1655–1663.
- MOHER, D., LIBERATI, A., TETZLAFF, J. & ALTMAN, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 151, 264.
- *MONTALVO, A. E., LOPEZ, R. R., PARKER, I. D., SILVY, N. J., COOPER, S. M. & FEAGIN, R. A. (2017). Quantifying meso-mammal cave use in central Texas. *Wildlife Biology* **2017**, 1–7.
- MOONEY, H. A., MACK, R., MCNEELY, J. A., MCNEELY, J. A., NEVILLE, L. E., SCHEI, P. J. & WAAGE, J. K. (2005). *Invasive Alien Species: A New Synthesis.* Island Press, Washington.
- *MOSELEY, M. (2007). Acadian biospeleology: composition and ecology of cave fauna of Nova Scotia and southern New Brunswick, Canada. *International Journal of Speleology* 36, 1–21.
- *MOSELEV, M. (2009). Estimating diversity and ecological status of cave invertebrates: some lessons and recommendations from Dark Cave (Batu Caves, Malaysia). *Cave and Karst Science* 35, 47–52.
- *MOSELEY, M., LIM, T. W. & LIM, T. T. (2012). Fauna reported from Batu caves, Selangor, Malaysia: annotated checklist and bibliography. *Cave and Karst Science* 39, 77–92.
- *MOSELEY, M. & PROCTOR, C. (2016). An almost unknown subterranean habitat: British maritime terrestrial caves. *Cave and Karst Science* **43**, 127–139.
- *MOUSER, J., ASHLEY, D., ALEY, T. & BREWER, S. (2018). Subterranean invasion by gapped ringed crayfish: effectiveness of a removal effort and barrier installation. *Diversity* **11**, 3.

- MULEC, J. (2019). Lampenflora. In *Encyclopedia of Caves* (eds B. W. WHITE, D. C. CULVER and T. PIPAN), pp. 635–640. Elsevier, Oxford.
- *NEDVED, O., PEKÁR, S., BEZDECKA, P., LÍZNAROVÁ, E., REZÁC, M., SCHMITT, M. & SENTENSKÁ, L. (2011). Ecology of Arachnida alien to Europe. *BioControl* 56, 539–550.
- *NENTWIG, W. (2015). Introduction, establishment rate, pathways and impact of spiders alien to Europe. *Biological Invasions* 17, 2757–2778.
- NICOLOSI, G., MAMMOLA, S., COSTANZO, S., SABELLA, G., CIRRINCIONE, R., SIGNORELLO, G. & ISAIA, M. (2021). Microhabitat selection of a Sicilian subterranean woodlouse and its implications for cave management. *International Journal of Speleology* 50, 53–63.
- O'DEA, R. E., LAGISZ, M., JENNIONS, M. D., KORICHEVA, J., NOBLE, D. W., PARKER, T. H., GUREVITCH, J., PAGE, M. J., STEWART, G., MOHER, D. & NAKAGAWA, S. (2021). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses in ecology and evolutionary biology: a PRISMA extension. *Biological Reviews* 96, 1695–1722.
- *OROMI, P. & MARTIN, J. L. (1992). The Canary Islands subterranean fauna characterization and composition. In *The Natural History of Biospeleology. Monografias Museo Nacional de Ciencias Naturales* (cd. A. I. CAMACHO), pp. 72–85. CSIC, Madrid.
- PAGAD, S., GENOVESI, P., CARNEVALI, L., SCALERA, R. & CLOUT, M. (2015). IUCN SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group: invasive alien species information management supporting practitioners, policy makers and decision takers. *Management of Biological Invasions* 6, 127–135.
- PAGAD, S., GENOVESI, P., CARNEVALI, L., SCHIGEL, D. & MCGEOCH, M. A. (2018). Introducing the global register of introduced and invasive species. *Scientific Data* 5, 170202.
- *PALACIOS-VARGAS, J. G., JUBERTHIE, C. & REDDELL, J. R. (2015). Mexico. In Encyclopædia Biospeologica. Mundos Subterráneos IIa, 25–26.
- *PAPE, R. (2016). The importance of ants in cave ecology, with new records and behavioral observations of ants in Arizona caves. *International Journal of Speleology* 45, 185–205.
- *PAQUIN, P., DUPERRE, N. & LABELLE, S. (2008). Introduced spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) in an artificial ecosystem in Eastern Canada. *Entomological News* **119**, 217–226.
- PARKES, J., BYROM, A. & EDGE, K. A. (2017). Eradicating mammals on New Zealand island reserves: what is left to do? New Zealand Journal of Ecology 41, 263–270.
- *PECK, S. B. (1989). The cave fauna of Alabama: part I. The terrestrial invertebrates (excluding insects). Bulletin of the National Speleological Society 40, 39–63.
- *PECK, S. B. (1992). A synopsis of the invertebrate cave fauna of Jamaica. Bulletin of the National Speleological Society 54, 37–60.
- *PECK, S. B. & ROTH, L. M. (1992). Cockroaches of the Galápagos Islands, Ecuador, with descriptions of three new species (Insecta: Blattodea). *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 70, 2202–2217.
- *PECK, S. B. & THAYER, M. K. (2003). The cave-inhabiting rove beetles of the United States (Coleoptera; Staphylinidae; excluding Aleocharinae and Psclaphinae): diversity and distributions. *Journal of Cave and Karst Studies* 65, 3–8.
- PIANO, E., BONA, F., FALASCO, E., LA MORGIA, V., BADINO, G. & ISAIA, M. (2015). Environmental drivers of phototrophic biofilms in an Alpine show cave (SW-Italian Alps). Science of the Total Environment 536, 1007–1018.
- PIANO, E., NICOLOSI, G. & ISAIA, M. (2021). Modulating lighting regime favours a sustainable use of Show Caves: a case study in NW-Italy. *Journal for Nature Conservation* 64, 126075.
- PIANO, E., NICOLOSI, G., MAMMOLA, S., BALESTRA, V., BARONI, B., BELLOPEDE, R., CUMINO, E., MUZZULINI, N., PIQUET, A. & ISAIA, M. (2022). A literature-based database of the natural heritage, the ecological status and tourismrelated impacts in show caves worldwide. *Nature Conservation* **50**, 159–174.
- PIPAN, T. & CULVER, D. C. (2012). Convergence and divergence in the subterranean realm: a reassessment. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 107, 1–14.
- *PRICE, L. & STEINER, H. (1999). Periplaneta australasiae (Blattidae), a new record for Dark Cave, Batu Caves. Malayan Nature Journal 53, 341–344.
- *PROUDLOVE, G. S. (2001). The conservation status of hypogean fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 62, 201–213.
- PROUS, X., FERREIRA, R. L. & JACOBI, C. (2015). The entrance as a complex ecotone in a Neotropical cave. *International Journal of Speleology* 44, 177–189.
- PROUS, X., FERREIRA, R. L. & MARTINS, R. P. (2004). Ecotone delimitation: epigeanhypogean transition in cave ecosystems. *Austral Ecology* 29, 374–382.
- PYSEK, P., BACHER, S., CHYTRÝ, M., JAROSÍK, V., WILD, J., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., GASSÓ, N., KENIS, M., LAMBDON, P. W., NENTWIG, W., PERGL, J., ROQUES, A. & SÁDLO, J. (2010). Contrasting patterns in the invasions of European terrestrial and freshwater habitats by alien plants, insects and vertebrates. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 19, 317–331.
- PYSEK, P., CHYTRÝ, M. & JAROSÍK, V. (2009). Habitats and land use as determinants of plant invasions in the temperate zone of Europe. In *Bioinvasions and Globalization: Ecology, Economics, Management, and Policy* (eds C. Perring, H. Mooney, M. Williamson), pp. 66–80. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Pysek, P., Hulme, P. E., Simberloff, D., Bacher, S., Blackburn, T. M., Carlton, J. T., Dawson, W., Essl, F., Foxcroft, L. C., Genovesi, P.,

JESCHKE, J. M., KÜHN, I., LIEBHOLD, A. M., MANDRAK, N. E., MEYERSON, L. A., *ET AL.* (2020). Scientists' warning on invasive alien species. *Biological Reviews* **95**, 1511–1534.

- PYSEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., PERGL, J., JAROSÍK, V., SIXTOVA, Z. & WEBER, E. (2008). Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23, 237–244.
- R CORE TEAM (2021). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. [Accessed 12.2022] Electronic file available at http://www.R-project.org.
- *REEVES, W. K. (1999). Exotic species of North American Caves. In Proceedings of the 1999 National Cave and Karst Management Symposium (ed. K. HENDERSON), pp. 164–166. Southeastern Cave Conservancy Inc, Chattanooga.
- *REEVES, W. K. (2001). Invertebrate and slime mold cavernicoles of Santee Cave, South Carolina, U.S.A. In *Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia* 151, 81–85.
- REYNOLDS, J. & SOUTY-GROSSET, C. (2011). Management of Freshwater Biodiversity: Crayfish as Bioindicators. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- REYNOLDS, J. D. (2011). A review of ecological interactions between crayfish and fish, indigenous and introduced. *Knowledge and Management of Aquatic Ecosystems* 401, 10.
- RICCIARDI, A., HOOPES, M. F., MARCHETTI, M. P. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2013). Progress toward understanding the ecological impacts of nonnative species. *Ecological Monographs* 83, 263–282.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., PYSEK, P. & CARLTON, J. T. (2011). A compendium of essential concepts and terminology in biological invasions. In *Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology: The Legacy of Charles Elton* (ed. D. M. RICHARDSON), pp. 409–420. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- RICHARDSON, D. M., PYSEK, P., REJMANEK, M., BARBOUR, M. G., PANETTA, F. D. & WEST, C. J. (2000). Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. *Diversity and Distributions* 6, 93–107.
- *ROQUES, A., KENIS, M., LEES, D., LÓPEZ-VAAMONDE, C., RABITSCH, W., RASPLUS, J. Y. & ROY, D. B. (2010). Alien terrestrial arthropods of Europe. *BioRisk – Biodiversity and Ecosystem Risk Assessment* 4, 1–1028.
- ROY, D., ALDERMAN, D., ANASTASIU, P., ARIANOUTSOU, M., AUGUSTIN, S., BACHER, S., BAŞNOU, C., BEISEL, J., BERTOLINO, S., BONESI, L., BRETAGNOLLE, F., CHAPUIS, J.L., CHAUVEL, B., CHIRON, F., CLERGEAU, P., *ET AL.* (2020). DAISIE - Inventory of alien invasive species in Europe. Version 1.7. Research Institute for Nature and Forest (INBO). Checklist dataset https://doi. org/10.15468/ybwd3x [Accessed via GBIF.org 12.2021].
- SÁNCHEZ-GARCÍA, I. (2014). Cuatro planarias terrestres exóticas nuevas para Andalucía. Revista de la Sociedad Gaditana de Historia Natural 8, 15–20.
- SAUL, W. C., ROY, H. E., BOOY, O., CARNEVALI, L., CHEN, H.-J., GENOVESI, P., HARROWER, C. A., HULME, P. E., PAGAD, S., PERGL, J. & JESCHKE, J. M. (2017). Assessing patterns in introduction pathways of alien species by linking major invasion data bases. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54, 657–669.
- SEEBENS, H., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., PAGAD, S., PYSEK, P., WINTER, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BACHER, S., BLASIUS, B., BRUNDU, G., CAPINHA, C., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., *ET AL.* (2017). No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. *Nature Communications* 8, 14435.
- SIESA, M. E., MANENTI, R., PADOA-SCHIOPPA, E., DE BERNARDI, F. & FICETOLA, G. F. (2011). Spatial autocorrelation and the analysis of invasion processes from distribution data: a study with the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. *Biological Invasions* 13, 2147–2160.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. (2002). The economics of biological invasions. Biodiversity and Conservation 11, 553–556.
- SIMBERLOFF, D., MARTIN, J. L., GENOVESI, P., MARIS, V., WARDLE, D. A., ARONSON, J., COURCHAMP, F., GALIL, B., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E., PASCAL, M., PYSEK, P., SOUSA, R., TABACCHI, E. & VILÀ, M. (2013). Impacts of biological invasions: what's what and the way forward. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28, 58–66.
- *SOTO-ADAMES, F. N. & TAYLOR, S. J. (2010). Status assessment survey for springtails (Collembola) in Illinois caves: the Salem Plateau. *Illinois Natural History Survey* 13, 1–76.
- *SOUTY-GROSSET, C., ANASTÁCIO, P. M., AQUILONI, L., BANHA, F., CHOQUER, J., CHUCHOLL, C. & TRICARICO, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarküi* in Europe: impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. *Linnologica* 58, 78–93.
- STATZNER, B., BONADA, N. & DOLÉDEC, S. (2008). Biological attributes discriminating invasive from native European stream macroinvertebrates. *Biological Imasions* 10, 517–530.
- *SUÁREZ, D., MARTÍN, S. & NARANJO, M. (2018). First report of the invasive alien species Caenoplana coerulea Moseley, 1877 (Platyhelminthes, Tricladida, Geoplanidae) in the subterranean environment of the Canary Islands. Subterranean Biology 26, 67–74.
- *TAITI, S. & WYNNE, J. (2015). The terrestrial Isopoda (Crustacea, Oniscidea) of Rapa Nui (Easter Island), with descriptions of two new species. ZooKeys 515, 27–49.
- *TAYLOR, S.J. (2001). Investigation of the potential for red imported fire ant (Solenopsis invicta) impacts on rare karst invertebrates at fort hood, Texas: literature survey and study design.

U.S. Army Engineer Research and Development Center ERDC-CTC, ATTN. Illinois Natural History Survey Center for Biodiversity, Technical Report 12, 1–50.

- *TAYLOR S.J., KREJCA J., SMITH J.E., BLOCK V.R. & HUTTO F. (2003). Investigation of the potential for Red Imported Fire Ant (Solenopsis invicta) impacts on rare karst invertebrates at Fort Hood, Texas: a field study. Illinois Bexar County Karst Invertebrates Draft Recovery Plan Natural History Survey. Illinois Natural History Survey Center for Biodiversity, Technical Report 28, 1–153.
- *TAYLOR, S. J., KREJCA, J. K. & DENIGHT, M. L. (2005). Foraging range and habitat use of *Ceuthophilus secretus* (Orthoptera: Rhaphidophoridae), a key trogloxene in Central Texas cave communities. *The American Midland Naturalist* **154**, 97–114.
- *TERCAFS, R. & BROUWIR, C. (1991). Population size of Pyrenean troglobiont coleopters (Speonomus species) in a cave in Belgium. International Journal of Speleology 20, 23–35.
- TITLEY, M. A., SNADDON, J. L. & TURNER, E. C. (2017). Scientific research on animal biodiversity is systematically biased towards vertebrates and temperate regions. *PLoS One* 12, e0189577.
- TRONTELJ, P., BLEJEC, A. & FISER, C. (2012). Ecomorphological convergence of cave communities. *Evolution* 66, 3852–3865.
- TURBELIN, A. J., MALAMUD, B. D. & FRANCIS, R. A. (2017). Mapping the global state of invasive alien species: patterns of invasion and policy responses. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 26, 78–92.
- VERBRUGGE, L. N., LEUVEN, R. S. & ZWART, H. A. (2016). Metaphors in invasion biology: implications for risk assessment and management of non-native species. *Ethics, Policy & Environment* 19, 273–284.
- *VICENTE, M. C. & ENGHOFF, H. (1999). The millipedes of the Canary Islands (Myriapoda: Diplopoda). *Vieraea* 27, 183–204.
- VILÀ, M., BASNOU, C., PYSEK, P., JOSEFSSON, M., GENOVESI, P., GOLLASCH, S., NENTWIG, W., OLENIN, S., ROQUES, A., ROY, D. & HULME, P. E. (2010). How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 8, 135–144.
- VILÀ, M., ÉSPINAR, J. L., HEJDA, M., HULME, P. É., JAROSÍK, V., MARON, J. L., PERGL, J., SCHAFFNER, U., SUN, Y. & PYSEK, P. (2011). Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 14, 702–708.
- *VINARSKI, M. V. & PALATOV, D. M. (2018). Ferrissia californica (Gastropoda: Planorbidae): the first record of a global invader in a cave habitat. Journal of Natural History 52, 1147–1155.
- *VINK, C. J. & DUPÉRRÉ, N. (2011). Nesticus eremita (Araneae: Nesticidae): redescription of a potentially invasive European spider found in New Zealand. Journal of Arachnology 39, 511–514.
- *WELCH, J. N. & LEPPANEN, C. (2017). The threat of invasive species to bats: a review. Mammal Review 47, 277–290.
- WICKHAM, H. (2016). ggplot2. Springer International Publishing, Cham.

- *WOJCIK, D. P., ALLEN, C. R., BRENNER, R. J., FORYS, E. A., JOUVENAZ, D. P. & LUTZ, R. S. (2001). Red imported fire ants: impact on biodiversity. *American Entomologist* 47, 16–23.
- *WYNNE, J. J., BERNARD, E. C., HOWARTH, F. G., SOMMER, S., SOTO-ADAMES, F. N., TAITI, S., MOCKFORD, E. L., HORROCKS, M., PAKARATI, L. & PAKARATI-HOTUS, V. (2014). Disturbance relicts in a rapidly changing world: the Rapa Nui (Easter Island) factor. *BioScience* 64, 711–718.
- *WYNNE, J. J., SOMMER, S., HOWARTH, F. G., DICKSON, B. G. & VOYLES, K. D. (2018). Capturing arthropod diversity in complex cave systems. *Diversity and Distributions* 24, 1478–1491.
- *ZAPPAROLI, M. (2008). Primo elenco delle specie animali alloctone negli ambienti sotterranei italiani. In *Convegno Biospeleologia dell'Appennino: studi e ricerche su Anfibi e Invertebrati, con particolare riferimento all'Appennino Umbro-Marchigiano* (eds D. FIACCHINI, G. CAROTTI and G. FUSCO), pp. 71–75. GSS - CAI Senigallia, CoSteSS. Tecnostampa Edizioni srl, Parco naturale regionale Gola della Rossa e di Frasassi, Ostra Vetere.
- *ZAPPAROLI, M. (2009). An annotated catalogue of the epigeic and cave centipedes (Chilopoda) of Sardinia. *Zootaxa* 2318, 56–168.
- *ZIGLER, K., NIEMILLER, M., STEPHEN, C., AYALA, B., MILNE, M., GLADSTONE, N., ENGEL, A., JENSEN, J., CAMP, C., OZIER, J. & CRESSLER, A. (2020). Biodiversity from caves and other sub-terranean habitats of Georgia, USA. *Journal of Cave and Karst Studies* 82, 125–167.
- ZUUR, A. F. & IENO, E. N. (2016). A protocol for conducting and presenting results of regression-type analyses. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7, 636–645.

IX. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Fig. S1. PRISMA flow diagram (*sensu* Moher *et al.*, 2009) depicting the flow of information through the different phases of the systematic literature search.

Fig. S2. The number of articles published per year on subterranean alien species in subterranean habitats.

Table S1. Full list of papers extracted in our systematic survey and respective extracted metadata.

(Received 8 July 2022; revised 5 January 2023; accepted 10 January 2023; published online 20 January 2023)